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Author’s Note




This is a true story. Unless otherwise noted, actual names are used. The facts were verified by court records and law enforcement agents.

Whenever possible, more than one source confirmed the conversations in this book. If participants were either unavailable or unwilling to offer comment, the dialogue reflects Kevin Maher’s recollection of what was said.

It was my intention that Cop Without a Badge be both informative and enjoyable. And while it is non-fiction, I hope it proves as absorbing as a novel. After all, there is only one difference between Cop Without a Badge and a work of fiction.

You can’t make this stuff up.
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Chapter 1




November 29, 1971; 1:00 A.M., the Bronx

THE 1969 PLYMOUTH ROADRUNNER HEMI, ITS BODY TREMBLING FROM the power of the 426-cubic-inch engine that growled underneath the hood, rumbled up the entrance ramp to the northbound lanes of the Bronx River Parkway. The driver was Kevin Maher, a seventeen-year-old Irish kid from the Bronx. Freckled face. Burst of reddish-blond hair. Pale blue eyes. He looked like he should be on a bicycle, not behind the wheel of a two-thousand-pound machine.

A factory standard Hemi was considered to be among the fastest stock automobiles on the highway. But beyond the high-performance design there was another attribute that set Maher’s Hemi apart from other cars on the Bronx River Parkway that evening.

It was stolen.

Maher urged the Hemi to eighty miles per hour and swept up beside a 1967 Pontiac GTO. The driver of the GTO, a young Italian man who understood the taunting language of chattering cylinders and roaring manifolds, smiled at Maher. In an instant, the cars charged forward. By the time the Hemi and the GTO thundered past 233rd Street, the Hemi was clocking a hundred miles an hour and the GTO seemed to be going backward. Maher glanced in the rearview mirror and watched as the competition fell away. It wasn’t until the GTO quickly darted to the side of the road that Maher saw the flashing lights.


Maher pondered the options: He could face grand theft auto or make a run for it. There wasn’t really any choice, he had to run. Besides, a six-cylinder squad car was like a horse and buggy compared to the souped-up Hemi.

Maher pressed the accelerator into the floorboard, the sudden shift in momentum forcing his head back. A hundred and ten now and climbing. A hundred and twenty. He squinted as the dark highway rushed at the windshield, then glanced into the rearview mirror. The cop was right on his tail. How could that be? Maher looked again. It wasn’t a basic NYPD squad car at all. It was a Highway Patrol car: a 440 Plymouth Interceptor with a gear ratio ratcheted for speed.

“Fuck!” Maher said aloud.

For many teenagers in the economically ravaged Bronx of the dawning seventies, stealing cars was a pastime. Virtually every Irish and Italian kid who lived there was proficient at ripping out an ignition and cranking up an engine with a screwdriver. They didn’t sell the cars, just took them for joy rides and abandoned them. When they were caught—and they almost always were—they generally were treated with leniency by some weary judge. After all, this was the Bronx. People killed people in the Bronx. A teen with a stolen car? What the hell?

But Maher was more sophisticated than his teenage buddies who stole cars for the fun of it. The fact was, Maher could turn a stolen car into a lawfully registered vehicle in minutes. All it took was a knowledge of VIN numbers and a couple of “stars.”

A car’s Vehicle Identification Number is stamped on a small metal tag fastened under the base of the windshield. This number was at the heart of Maher’s automotive shell game. Maher would simply replace the VIN number of a stolen car with the VIN number taken from a legitimately owned vehicle.

In this case, Maher actually owned a Roadrunner, which was sitting in the driveway at his father’s house. However, as Maher had done with every car he had ever owned, he had driven the life out of it, broken it like a rodeo hotshot on a bull. About the only thing worth salvaging was its VIN number. So Maher drilled the metal tag from his disabled Plymouth and spent the day “shopping.” He checked the want ads and went from place to place, kicking tires, test-driving each Roadrunner carefully. Finally, on Undercliff Avenue in the Bronx, he came across a beauty of a vehicle. He drove it around the block a few times, thanked the owner, and went home. At midnight he returned, pried out the ignition, and drove away.

The first thing Maher did after he stole the Hemi was head to Queens, where he knew a guy in a body shop who did “tag jobs,” which involved removing the windshield, swapping VIN numbers, and then replacing the windshield. That was the easy part. When the original VIN tag was ripped out, there was no way to keep from destroying the special rivets that held it in place. These rivets, called “stars,” were hard to come by and carried a street price of $125 each. But Maher was prepared. He had two “stars” in his pocket. Maher had already switched license plates, so once the “tag job” was done, everything would match. Plates. Registration. Insurance certificate. VIN number. The color was different, of course, but even that was no real problem. Maher would go to the Division of Motor Vehicles the next day and tell them he had painted the car. They would issue a new registration, no questions asked. At that point, since every document was linked to another document, thus creating an illusion of validity, and since DMV records would show that Maher actually did own a Roadrunner, there would be no suspicions aroused, giving police no justifiable reason to investigate further. Indeed, once Maher finished the tag job, no one would guess that the stolen Hemi he was driving wasn’t the Roadrunner he actually owned. Unfortunately, the body shop owner in Queens was nowhere to be found. And now Maher was racing up the Bronx River Parkway with a shaky VIN number.

Maher checked the rearview mirror again and saw the Interceptor’s grill sneering back at him. Maher decided he needed to get to Westchester County in a hurry, where the intricate maze of “communities” would hide him until he cooled off. Each cozy little development was filled with indistinguishable cloned houses and had its own system of streets cutting through perfectly manicured lawns. A fugitive couldn’t ask for a better place to get lost.

As Maher planned his escape route into suburbia, he looked up and saw the toll plaza. Since it was late at night, all but one booth had been closed, and that booth was blocked by a Volkswagen. Maher slammed on his brakes and laid on his horn, skidding to a stop behind the Volkswagen. Suddenly, Maher heard a pounding on his car. He turned to see the highway patrolman, gun drawn, banging on his trunk.

“Get out of the car!” the cop screamed, pointing his gun. “Get out of the car!”

Maher looked back toward the toll plaza. The driver of the Volkswagen, an executive type, jumped from his car.

“What’s going on here?!” the pinstripe yelled at Maher.

Maher shrugged. Fuck this! He popped the clutch and, with the screeching of tires and a cloud of smoke from burning rubber, pushed the Volkswagen through the gate. And then he was off again.

Maher spotted the next toll booth a little sooner, allowing him time to point at it like a kamikaze diving for the deck of an aircraft carrier. Panicked toll takers dove for cover as the Hemi blasted through the swing gate like it was made of cardboard. Maher laughed, finding comfort in the knowledge that he was the best there was when it came to driving fast cars. Everybody knew Kevin Maher.

Given Maher’s skill at stealing cars and his penchant for bragging about his exploits, it was to be expected that he would get to know most of the body shop owners in Queens, particularly those who preferred not to buy auto parts. Joey Braccini, for example. So, when a local Queens man named Jimmy Nace introduced Braccini to “an Irish kid who’s good with cars,” Braccini immediately offered Maher a job.

“If you can get me a 1970 Lincoln Continental,” Braccini told Maher, “I’ll pay you two-fifty. And if you find me a tan one, that’ll save me a paint job. I’ll give you five hundred for a tan.”

Now that Maher was a “pro,” his choice of tools underwent a change as well. Instead of a screwdriver, Maher began using a “dent puller” to extract ignitions. Designed for use by body shops in restoring crumpled automobile fenders, the “slide hammer,” as it was also called, consisted of a steel rod with a sheet metal screw attached to one end and a large washer secured to the other end. A cast-iron weight with a center hole slid along the length of the rod. Maher would turn the screw into a car’s ignition and then forcefully jerk the weight back until it slammed against the washer, the resulting force easily ripping out the ignition. The mechanical advantage supplied by the slide hammer allowed Maher to be on his way in fewer than thirty seconds.

A short while after Maher began stealing cars for Joey Braccini, Joey’s brother Tony was released from prison. A convicted bank robber, Tony had not been rehabilitated.

“I need a wheel man,” Tony told his brother Joey.

“I know this Irish kid,” Joey offered. “If you can make it from the bank to the car, this kid’ll get you away.”

Maher lived up to his reputation. Seven times the Braccini brothers hit a bank in the Cross Bay area, and seven times Maher spirited them away. Once, when they were spotted by a bank employee before they even got out of the car, Maher eluded a pursuing squadron of cops by jumping a concrete highway divider and barreling across an overpass bridge in the wrong direction. For his efforts, Maher received payments that ranged from $500 to $7,500.

If Maher had grown up in the Midwest he might have wound up at the Indianapolis 500 taking the checkered flag. But a kid from the Bronx didn’t have such heady dreams. The way Maher saw it, the only difference between Indianapolis and the Bronx was that in the Bronx you got the prize before you started the race. And to Maher, that was the far better proposition.

The prize on this night was the 426 Roadrunner Hemi. And the race was nowhere near over. For the next hour, Maher led the Highway Patrol car on a chase through five New York counties at speeds topping a hundred and forty miles per hour. The impromptu Gran Prix spilled onto the Sprain River Parkway and off again, over the Taconic State Parkway, and across to the New York State Thruway. Because the highways were so long and straight, Maher was never able to get out of sight of the persistent Interceptor.

Poughkeepsie. Rhinebeck. Kingston. And, of course, more toll booths. The Hemi was going so fast, Maher’s sighting of the toll plazas and the sharp crack of the Hemi’s grill pulverizing the wooden gates occurred almost simultaneously. Maher would blink, and when he opened his eyes, a blizzard of splinters would swirl over the windshield.

Somewhere near the Catskill Mountains, Maher rounded a curve and spotted three State Police cars blocking his way. Since there wasn’t time to react, Maher braced himself for a collision, only this time the obstacle wasn’t as flimsy as a wooden toll gate. Maher’s heart was pumping now, his face flushed. It was a rush like he had never experienced, a taste of both terror and anticipation at the thought of tempting sudden death. Suddenly, the perspective reversed. It didn’t seem as if the Hemi was moving at all, rather the police roadblock was hurtling toward him. And then, accompanied by the crunching of metal and the shattering of glass, the Hemi plowed through the automotive blockade.

Although the Hemi survived the impact, it was now severely damaged. One of the headlights was destroyed and the other was pointing straight up, making it impossible to see the road in the black night. At least the radio was still working. Shaft by Isaac Hayes blasted out of the speakers.

The moment the Hemi cleared the roadblock, the State Troopers drew their guns and began firing. The first bullet slammed into the trunk, the second fractured the rear window. Several more rounds pelted the doors.

Who’s the baddest mutha… Isaac Hayes’s growling voice was cut off in midverse as a slug ripped into the radio.

Miraculously, Maher wasn’t hit, and the speeding Hemi took him out of range of the troopers’ guns within seconds. But now he had another problem. Since he couldn’t see the road without headlights, he was forced to slow down. And the Interceptor was somewhere close behind him.

Fortunately for Maher, the state troopers had neglected to radio the highway patrolman as to the location of the roadblock. So when the Interceptor rounded the curve, it collided with the three state vehicles, spinning to a stop on the side of the road.

The Hemi limped off the highway and entered the Catskill Mountains, vanishing into the darkened hills. After more than a hundred miles, the race had ended. And Maher had won.

 

AT DAWN, MAHER FOLLOWED BACK ROADS TO NEW YORK. HE COULDN’T go to 1607 Cross Bay Boulevard in Queens, where he now lived with his father, because the tags on the Hemi were registered to that address. (Due to Maher’s age, the Roadrunner had been registered in his father’s name.) So he made his way to the Bronx, and abandoned the smashed-up Hemi five blocks away from his mother’s apartment at 239 East Mosholu Parkway. He carefully wended his way through the neighborhood and sneaked through the back doorway of the apartment building.

“The cops were here,” Maher’s mother, Agnes, said, her voice edgy. “They said you were speeding.”

A moment later, there was a pounding on the door.

“Police! Open up!”

“Tell ’em I’m not here,” Maher whispered as he headed down the hall, his eyes sparkling like the eyes of a favorite son. “Okay, Mom?”

Agnes fought back a smile and walked to the front door, opening it to reveal two cops standing in the hallway.

“What do you want?” Agnes challenged.

“We’re looking for Kevin Maher.”

Agnes looked them straight in the eye. “I told you before, he’s not here.”

“Yes, he is,” a cop said, “We found his car five blocks away.”

The two cops swept past her like they were after the FBI’s most wanted criminal.

“What are you doing?!” Agnes demanded. “Get out of here before I call the cops.”

“We are the cops,” one of the officers shot back.

The cops conducted a room-to-room search, finally coming upon a closed bathroom door, where they heard the sound of running water.

“Who’s in there?” a cop demanded.

“My daughter,” Agnes said.

A cop reached for the doorknob.

“No!” Agnes shouted. “You can’t go in there!”

The cop twisted the knob and pushed into the bathroom. Someone was in the shower. Kevin Maher, no doubt. But then a teenage girl poked her dripping wet head around the shower curtain. She shrieked. And shrieked. And shrieked. The stunned cops backed out of the room.

“You perverts!” Agnes screamed as she showed the cops the door.

Had the cops not been so startled, they might have pulled back the shower curtain and discovered that Susan actually was dressed in a T-shirt and shorts.


Soaked and not the least bit amused, Susan turned off the shower and looked down at her brother, who was lying fully clothed, in the tub. She shook her head: “You really owe me this time, Kevin.”

 

EDWARD MAHER KNEW HIS SON HAD DONE MORE THAN MERELY EXCEED the speed limit on the Bronx River Parkway. The cops had run the plates on the Hemi and come up with his home address. An officer had given Edward all the details of the car chase and had emphasized the serious nature of the charges that had been filed against Kevin. For a blue-collar, law-abiding, churchgoing Irishman like Edward Maher, this latest escapade by his troubled son was a hurtful thing. This wasn’t kid stuff. This was bad.

Edward Maher married Agnes McNulty in the euphoric 1950s when the memory of war was fading and the promise of peacetime prosperity was beckoning. The first-generation Irish couple settled into the Bronx and started a family: Kevin was born April 18, 1954. Two years later the Mahers had a daughter, Susan. But the marriage was never a good one, and by 1960, Agnes and Edward were separated. Like any six-year-old might be, Kevin was devastated.

Following the separation, Edward seemed always to be locked in a struggle just to survive, sometimes working two jobs. Thus he had little time to spend with his son. Despite the infrequent visits, Kevin worshiped his father and would often resort to fantasy to justify that worship. Although Edward Maher held a series of mundane jobs that included bartender and furniture mover, Kevin made up stories about him.

“My father is a famous cop,” Kevin would tell his schoolmates one day. And the next day he might say: “My father is a famous businessman and he’s very, very rich.”

Naturally, six-year-old Kevin refused to believe his father could have been responsible for the breakup of the marriage, and he blamed his mother, often striking out at her. On one occasion he bought five cigarette “loads” at a novelty shop and packed the tiny gunpowder-coated wooden splinters into one of his mother’s cigarettes. When she lit it, the explosion shot flames into her beehive hairdo, which caught fire and sent her screaming around the kitchen.


Maher managed to get through grade school—at St. Anne’s and St. Brendan’s—but at fourteen his emotional state worsened considerably when his mother moved in with a man named Edward Tierney. Maher saw Tierney as a “drunk” and a “no-good.” Whatever Tierney was like, it wouldn’t have mattered to Maher. No one could measure up to his father. No one. As far as Maher was concerned, his father was a saint who loved his kids.

Maher stayed away from home as much as possible, and during the summer of 1968 he often went with a neighborhood friend named Eugene Gilhooley to a vacation house Gilhooley’s parents owned in Kingston, New York. But even the sojourns to the country turned bad for Maher. On one trip he was blinded in the right eye by a pellet fired from a BB gun. Now there were physical scars as well as emotional ones. He returned home from the trip, his eye bandaged and his self-worth knocked down another notch.

Since Maher and his mother were not getting along, Kevin moved in with his father. Edward’s two jobs left Kevin unattended for long hours, so he reluctantly suggested that Maher return to live with his mother. When Maher called his mother, she had some unexpected news. She told her son that she intended to fly to Mexico for a quickie divorce so she could marry Tierney. Maher was inconsolable. I ain’t going back to that bitch, he fumed as he hung up the receiver.

For the next two months, Edward thought his son was with his ex-wife, Agnes. And Agnes thought her son was with Edward. They never spoke to each other, so they never knew that their son was in neither home. Spending the summer doing whatever he pleased, he sometimes stayed with friends, often ran around all night, usually slept in cars, and only occasionally visited his parents. As for money, he managed to find the odd job that would pay him off the books. A porter, for example, at a seedy hotel.

Maher also hung around the local precinct. He loved the sound of crackling police radios and the nonstop action in the squad room. He idolized the detectives, who dressed well and had a certain heroic air about them. Other than the detectives, the only men in the Bronx who exuded as much style were the gangsters. For an Irish teenager looking to be somebody, not just a worker drone in a factory, these were the choices. Maher decided early on he wanted to be a cop. The job offered excitement and it commanded respect from the community. Someday, Maher told himself, he would be a detective and make his father proud.

Autumn came, and for most fourteen-year-olds, it meant an exciting event: entering high school. But Maher spent exactly one day in high school and remained a truant until March 1969. All he wanted to do at this point was get out of town. Go somewhere exciting. But how does a fourteen-year-old get out of town?

Eugene Gilhooley, who was nineteen, was about to be drafted into the Army.

“I’m thinking about going to Canada,” Gilhooley told Maher. “No way I’m going in the service.”

“Don’t worry about it,” Maher said. “Just give me the papers and I’ll go.”

Exhibiting astonishing resourcefulness, Maher assumed the identity of Eugene Gilhooley and, after forging an eye test, sidestepped the Army by enlisting in the Marine Corps. The youngest-ever marine got away with it for fourteen months before he was found out. So, at fifteen, Maher landed back in the Bronx with a choking sense of hopelessness. And now, at seventeen, he was a fugitive.

 

MAHER SPENT THE DAY SLEEPING AT A NEIGHBOR’S APARTMENT ACROSS the hall. That night he slipped out the back door of the apartment building and made his way to a subway entrance, where he boarded a Manhattan-bound subway and headed to the apartment of family friend Buddy Hample. Hample lived at 425 East 81st Street, a posh address that was testimony to the financial rewards of being a doorman in New York City, which was his occupation. In fact, East 81st Street was a perfect hiding place for Maher, since the cops wouldn’t look for an Irish street kid in such a neighborhood. And Hample didn’t mind. While Hample knew Maher was always up to some kind of mischief, he thought this was just speeding.

On December 17, 1971, three weeks after arriving at Hample’s apartment, Maher felt safe enough to leave. At 4:00 A.M. Maher walked up York Avenue and stole a 1966 Oldsmobile Tornado. He checked the want ads and found a wrecked 1966 Oldsmobile on sale for fifty dollars. He bought the wreck, then stopped off to see the insurance broker who held the policy on his Plymouth Roadrunner.

“I want to take the insurance off the Roadrunner,” Maher told the broker, “and put it on this Olds.”

Maher showed the broker the paperwork pertaining to the wrecked Oldsmobile, in which the owner had signed over the title to Maher’s father, Edward Maher. A few minutes later, the broker handed Maher an FS1, a proof of insurance card required in New York State. Maher took the FS1 to the Division of Motor Vehicles and, after registering the wrecked Oldsmobile, wound up with a legal VIN number and legal license plates. In fact, everything Maher had done pertaining to the wrecked Olds was perfectly legal. Next came the sleight of hand. Maher bolted the legally obtained plates on the stolen Oldsmobile, then drove to Queens and had the VIN numbers swapped. By afternoon, Maher had a “legitimate” automobile.

Prior to his parents’ separation, it never occurred to Maher that bad things could happen to good people. Once he realized that emotional disaster loomed just ahead of every happy moment, Maher developed a sense of impending doom. And a feeling that he had to hurry his life to outrun the disappointment. Which is why he joined the Marines at fourteen. And why he couldn’t resist speeding up the Major Deegan Expressway on this day. So he rammed the accelerator to the floorboard and urged the Oldsmobile past eighty miles per hour. At 230th Street Maher heard sirens. He checked the rearview mirror, and when he saw the flashing lights of a pursuing squad car, he was tempted to make a dash for the Catskills again. But this time everything was in order. Tags. Registration. He even had a forged driver’s license with a brand-new name on it.

Maher pulled over and waited while the cop called in the plate number. It came back as being registered to Edward Maher. The cop stepped from his squad car and walked to the window of the Olds.

“License and registration, please.”

Maher complied, chattering all the while that he didn’t realize he was speeding.


A few minutes later, the cop returned with a ticket and handed it to Maher without a word. The cop started to walk away, then whipped around.

“I know you!”

Maher diverted his eyes.

“Wait a minute!” the cop shouted. “You’re Kevin Maher!”

The cop was from the MCY, the police unit that patrols the snaking highways around the five boroughs of New York City. He had ticketed Maher several times, had heard about the now infamous Bronx-to-Catskills chase, and knew that Maher had a penchant for stealing cars. Which could explain why the cop drew his gun. He may have speculated that the Olds was stolen and, despite the DMV documents, Maher’s reputation made the possibility that the car had been “tagged” worth checking. So Maher found himself looking into the barrel of a service revolver.

“Get out of the car,” the cop ordered.

Maher eased the door open and stepped onto the asphalt.

“Turn around,” the cop barked.

Maher did as he was told. Then he felt steel on his wrists and heard a metallic click. For the first time in his life, Maher was on his way to jail: the Rikers Island Adolescent Remand Shelter.

At fourteen, Maher had redefined the word “freedom,” breaking away from parental supervision and eluding the educational system. Now that he was penned in, panic overtook him. And although he was exhausted from the ordeal of being arrested and booked, he didn’t sleep.

The following morning, Maher was brought into court and charged in connection with the theft of the Hemi and the subsequent car chase: grand larceny, possession of stolen property, unauthorized use of a motor vehicle, reckless endangerment in the first degree, altered VIN number, and six counts of attempted assault on a police officer. A court date was scheduled for December 24, and bail was set at five hundred dollars cash. Unlike bail, which is set at five hundred dollars bond—in which case a suspect can find a bail bondsman and post 10 percent of the bail—a cash bail meant that the court would not accept a bond. And though the cash bail was only five hundred dollars, even that small amount was too much for Agnes and Edward Maher to raise. However, had the court been willing to release Maher on a five-hundred-dollar bond, it still would not have made any difference. Bail bondsmen wanted assurances that the bond would be paid if the suspect fled and usually required real estate as collateral. Maher’s parents owned no real estate.

That afternoon, things got worse. The Olds was taken to the Whitestone Impound Lot, and cops did what is called “a search for true VIN number.” While thieves knew the standard location of a VIN number—under the windshield—they also knew that auto manufacturers hid the VIN number in several other locations on the vehicle. The redundancy scheme—which was a closely guarded secret shared by Detroit and law enforcement—enabled police to determine if the VIN number had been altered. The Olds came up bad. And Maher was charged with a second theft.

Six days later, on Christmas Eve, Maher was led into a courtroom. Represented by a public defender, Maher listened as the charges were read. Then the public defender pointed out that Maher had no previous record and asked for a bail reduction. After reflecting for a moment, the judge looked down from the bench and smiled.

“Merry Christmas, Kevin,” the judge said as he released Maher on his own recognizance.

Maher spent Christmas week running between his mother’s apartment and his father’s. Both of his parents were relieved that he had been released from jail, and both pleaded with him to stay out of trouble.

On New Year’s Eve, Maher prepared for the evening by buying a destroyed 1965 Chevrolet from a junk yard for twenty-five dollars and then snatching a pristine ’65 Chevy off a Bronx Street. Following the usual drill of swapping license plates and VIN numbers, he picked up his girlfriend Kathy Salak, a beautiful Ukrainian teenager, and headed for Manhattan to party. At 11:00 P.M., the ’65 Chevy shot onto the 59th Street Bridge at seventy miles per hour. And then came the familiar sound of sirens.

By now Maher’s name and photo were plastered all over police blotters from the Bronx to Manhattan. He was arrested on the spot. The Chevy was sent to the Whitestone Impound Lot, where a search for true VIN number determined that it was stolen.


Maher appeared before a judge the next morning, and bail was set at $2,500. Cash. It might as well have been a million. And so it was that on the very first day of 1972, a seventeen-year-old Bronx kid found himself in quite a predicament.

 

MAHER’S MOTHER SCRAPED TOGETHER ENOUGH FOR A RETAINER AND hired an attorney named James Morihan. Morihan was a large man, six feet, two inches tall and weighing more than two hundred fifty pounds. He had bloodshot eyes, a ruddy complexion, and a drinker’s nose. When Maher met Morihan it was the middle of the afternoon. Yet Morihan reeked of alcohol.

“Don’t worry,” Morihan said.

But Maher was more worried than before. This drunk is my lawyer?

On February 1, after spending a month at the Adolescent Remand Shelter on Rikers Island, Maher appeared in court for his arraignment, and Morihan was ready to plead his case for reduced bail. Youthful offender. No previous record. Morihan was confident that it would merely be a formality.

The court officer called Maher’s case. Morihan and Maher stood. So did an assistant district attorney.

“Second call!” the ADA shouted toward the bench.

“What does that mean?” Maher whispered to Morihan.

“They want to postpone the hearing until the second roll call,” Morihan answered.

“Why?” Maher asked. His gut told him whatever the reason, it couldn’t be good.

Morihan shrugged.

“Your Honor,” the ADA explained, “Burton Roberts has taken a special interest in this case and is on his way.”

Morihan began to sweat, and his face flushed. Burton Roberts was the Bronx district attorney, and Morihan knew that as district attorneys went, Roberts was a judicial pit bull. Why was Burton Roberts personally prosecuting a car thief?

During second call, the double doors in the back of the courtroom burst open, and Burton Roberts—a small man with a full head of bright red hair—made a grand, theatrical entrance. A stack of folders was cradled in one arm, and he held what looked like a ream of paper in his hand.


“Your Honor,” Roberts began, “Kevin Maher is a threat to himself and to society.”

Maher shrunk into his seat, looking considerably younger than his seventeen years. The judge peered down at him. Threat to society?

Roberts shook his head and glanced at Maher for a moment. Then Roberts took a step toward the bench and stared intently at the judge.

“I couldn’t keep my head on the pillow knowing Kevin Maher was on the street,” Roberts insisted. He held up a ream of computer printouts. “Maher has stolen a number of cars, Your Honor, has dozens of unanswered traffic summonses, and has been linked to numerous bank robberies.”

Maher jolted. Bank robberies? How could they know about the bank robberies? They never caught me.

Roberts’s voice built to a crescendo. He recounted the car chase to the Catskills, pointing out that three State Police cars and one Highway Patrol car sustained $28,000 in damage. Roberts concluded with a flourish.

“The charges against Kevin Maher are hereby modified,” he said as he placed a document in front of the judge. “The grand jury has returned an indictment charging Mr. Maher with six counts of attempted murder of a police officer.”

Morihan finally reacted. “Objection!”

The judge called for a “sidebar,” a private conference at the bench, and Maher watched as Morihan, Roberts, and the judge discussed his fate. After a few minutes, Morihan returned to his seat.

“What?” Maher pleaded. “What?”

Before Morihan could answer, the judge struck his gavel.

“Bail is revoked,” the judge bellowed, “and defendant is remanded to Bellevue Hospital for thirty days’ MO.”

“Does that mean I get out?” Maher asked. All Maher had heard was the word “hospital.” And he didn’t know that “MO” stood for “mental observation.” “Does that mean I have to go to a hospital for a month?”

Morihan didn’t have time to answer. A bailiff quickly placed a second pair of handcuffs on Maher—the standard treatment for mental cases—and led him from the courtroom.









Chapter 2




BELLEVUE WAS A HORRENDOUS EXPERIENCE, ESPECIALLY THE FIRST week. Maher found himself in a cramped prison ward that was a honeycomb of small steel cells. Adding to the ambience was the fact that the entire ward smelled of urine. The stench was almost unbearable, and Maher spent much of his first hours there retching. His wardmates included an assortment of mentally disturbed patients. Muttering paranoids. Dead-eyed catatonics. Even a few homicidal manic types who ranted and raved as if they were possessed by demons. And then there was Johnson.

Johnson, it seemed, refused to sleep on his bed—a steel frame with a thin mattress—preferring to curl up on the floor underneath. When the nurse would make her late-night rounds with medication, she would stop at Maher’s cell first. After she had handed Maher his pills, she would walk to the front of Johnson’s cell.

“Johnson!” she would scream as loud as she could. “Medication!”

Johnson would wake with a start and raise up, cracking his head on the bottom of the bed frame. As Johnson crawled across the cell in obvious pain, the nurse would say, “Mr. Johnson, don’t you think it would be better if you slept on top of your bed?”

A week after Maher arrived he was moved to the sixth floor, a setting more like a dormitory. For the next three weeks he underwent all manner of tests and attended group therapy sessions. Finally it was determined that Maher was not insane, and he was returned to Rikers Island. This time Maher wasn’t placed in the Adolescent Remand Shelter; he was tossed into Cell Block 2 amid the “general population.”

Meanwhile, Morihan tried to console Maher’s parents. Yet when Agnes asked how her teenage son could receive treatment usually reserved for monsters who had butchered their families or sociopathic career criminals, Morihan had no plausible explanation.

“I’ve never seen anything like it,” Morihan admitted. “It’s just a stolen car. And he’s a minor, for God’s sake!”

Maher’s father was beside himself. He had heard about what happens in prison, the beatings, the rapes. And now his son was on Rikers Island. It was the worst nightmare a father could endure.

But Edward Maher need not have worried about his son. A couple of days after arriving at Rikers, Maher was approached by an inmate who was in for armed robbery.

“I want you to be my sweet boy,” the man said. “I’ll buy you things from the commissary and look out for you.”

When Maher tried to ignore him, his prospective suitor became enraged. “Hey, you don’t give it to me, I’ll beat your fuckin’ brains in and take that pussy!”

Maher walked over to the man and smiled. The man smiled back. Then Maher leaned in slightly, crouched a little, and bawled up his fist.

“Oh, yeah?” Maher said.

“Yeah,” the man responded with a snarl.

Maher brought his fist up with all the force he could muster, landing a solid punch under the man’s chin. The man staggered back and Maher set upon him like a wild animal, biting him on the face. It took four guards to peel Maher off. When it was over, the man was a bloody mess, and Maher—due to the bites he had so savagely inflicted—had acquired a prison nickname: “Dirty Red.” From then on, nobody messed with the “crazy white boy.”

Two mysteries were answered early in March as Maher settled in to prison life at Rikers: (1) how Maher came to be implicated in the bank robberies and (2) why Burton Roberts prosecuted Maher so zealously.

At first Maher had thought the Braccini brothers had given him up. But then a detective from Burton Roberts’s office stopped by Rikers to see Maher.

“Who was with you on the Cross Bay bank jobs?” the detective asked.

Obviously the cops had not identified the Braccini brothers. And Maher refused to name them.

Day after day detectives would come to Rikers and badger Maher for hours. When the badgering didn’t work, they would resort to offering a deal.

“Give us the Cross Bay bank robbers,” they would say, “and we’ll get you out of here.”

It became increasingly clear that Bronx DA Burton Roberts had little interest in locking up a car thief; rather, he had been after the Cross Bay robbers all along.

As the interrogations continued, Maher was told he had been identified by a bank employee. It made sense. After all, Maher hung around Cross Bay Boulevard all the time, and everybody knew that baby face of his. Yet, when Maher asked when and where he was identified, the interrogators were vague. It occurred to Maher that he had not been positively identified by the employee. Otherwise the DA would have charged him with armed robbery.

More damning than the uncertain testimony of a bank employee was Maher’s own propensity to boast about his exploits.

“Sources tell us you were bragging about the jobs,” a detective told Maher one day.

Maher grimaced. He had told people about his daring getaways. If the cops know I did the bank jobs, it’s my own fucking fault.

Various detectives filed in and out of Rikers to see Maher, each new face expressing optimism that he would be the one to get Maher to break down and name the Cross Bay gang. But Maher became inured to the drama after a few days. The characters were always the same: the “bad cop,” the “good cop,” and the prisoner. Maher had come to know the script so well that he sometimes played along as if he were an actor in an old prison movie.


BAD COP


Look, you little rat bastard, you give me the fucking Cross Bay gang or I’ll make sure you never get the fuck out of here.



GOOD COP


(stepping in front of the bad cop)

Hold on. Hold on. He’s just a kid. Why don’t you let me talk to him.

(turning to Maher; in a soothing voice)

You don’t belong here, Kevin. You belong at home with your parents.



MAHER


I would like to be home.



GOOD COP


Then let me help you.

(off Maher’s hopeful expression)

All you have to do is give me the names of your accomplices and we can work a deal.

After a long beat.



MAHER


Fuck you! I don’t know nothin’ about no Cross Bay bank robberies.



No matter how hard the detectives pressed him or how much his parents begged him or how dire Morihan painted the consequences, Maher refused to snitch on the Braccinis. No way I’m giving up Joey Braccini. Joey is my friend.

As the daily interrogations continued, Maher was struck with the thought that cops often were reduced to being little more than information brokers, bartering small crimes for big crimes, constantly negotiating deals. And district attorneys would do almost anything to get an edge in that negotiation, even if it meant sentencing a minor to four years in prison for a car theft. Maher wasn’t sure what he would do with that little pearl of wisdom, but it stuck in his mind like a grain of sand in an oyster.

 


DURING MAHER’S FIRST MONTH AT RIKERS—A HUGE INSTITUTION WITH eight thousand inmates—Maher’s mother visited him. She had to go through several checkpoints, got frisked more than once, waited three hours, and finally got a thirty-minute visit in a small booth with thick glass separating her and her son.

“Ma,” Maher said toward the end of the half hour, “I don’t want you to come here anymore.”

Agnes was insistent. “I miss you, Kevin. I worry about you.”

But Maher didn’t want his mother being hand-searched by male correction officers.

“I mean it,” Maher asserted. “I won’t see you if you come here again.”

Agnes did come again and, as he had warned her, he refused to receive her.

Maher afforded the same treatment to his father and his sister, Susan. Edward Maher came once and from then on his son would not receive him. Nor would he allow Susan to enter the gates of Rikers. Maher just didn’t want his family to go through the agony of the visit.

After the horror of seeing their son at Rikers, both Agnes and Edward pushed Morihan for some kind of resolution.

“Why doesn’t my son have bail?” Edward Maher wailed. “Every day, I see murderers getting out.”

“It’s because he’s still under an MO order,” Morihan explained. “But I’ll see what I can do. I’ll try.”

Morihan frequently contacted Burton Roberts’s office and was always rebuffed. It soon became obvious that the Bronx DA’s office had a plan: Keep Maher locked up until he gave up the Cross Bay bank gang. March turned to April, and April turned to May. June. July. August. September. Maher remained entrenched, and the DA’s office continued to file motions and postponements. In fact, Morihan cracked before Maher. He was arrested for selling forged green cards to illegal aliens. Consequently, another lawyer was hired by Maher’s father: Nathan Gottosman. Gottosman made a determination: “The only way out of this is to plead it down.”

The deal was simple: In place of the myriad charges against him, Maher would plead guilty to a single count of reckless endangerment in the first degree, which was a “D” felony carrying a maximum sentence of seven years.


Maher balked. “Seven years?”

Gottosman soothed him. “Don’t worry. I can tell you right now, if anybody deserves probation, it’s you. No record. Youthful offender. And you’ve already served fourteen months. You should get time served or probation.”

“Okay,” Maher said with a sigh. “I’ll do it.”

 

JUDGE GEORGE STARK HAD A REPUTATION FOR BEING TOUGH, AND STORIES about him abounded. The tales may have been apocryphal, but they frightened criminals nonetheless. One anecdote went like this: Judge Stark peered at a defendant and asked him how many buttons he had. When the defendant looked down at his shirt and answered “six,” Judge Stark pronounced sentence: “Six years!” Another story had Judge Stark pointing out a window and asking a defendant what he thought of the tree. When the defendant told the judge that there was no tree outside the window, the judge responded by saying, “That’s right. There is no tree. But by the time you get out of jail, there will be.”

While Gottosman was not pleased with the fact that Judge Stark would be passing sentence, he had a more personal reason to be unhappy. The protracted maneuvers by the Bronx DA’s office had caused Gottosman to spend a great deal of bill-able time on the case, resulting in a fee that outstripped Edward Maher’s ability to pay. Gottosman had not received a check in some time.

“I want to withdraw,” Gottosman told Judge Stark, “because I haven’t gotten paid.”

“You are the attorney of record,” Judge Stark declared, “and you may not withdraw. If you have a problem, you can take it up in civil court at a later time.” Judge Stark stared at Gottosman. “So, counselor, do you have anything to say before I pass sentence?”

Gottosman stood and collected his thoughts. Finally, he drew in his breath and spoke. “He’s a good kid, Your Honor, he served in the Marine Corps. He’s good with his hands. He knows how to work on cars.”

Maher almost fell off the court bench. Knows how to work on cars? Is this fuckin’ idiot crazy?

Judge Stark wasted no time in reading the sentence: “Kevin Maher, you are to serve an indeterminate sentence of not less than one day nor more than four years.” He banged his gavel, and a bailiff started to lead Maher away.

“Four years?” Maher gasped. “I can’t do four years.”

Judge Stark waved at the bailiff to stop. He looked at Maher. “You can’t? Okay. Do what you can. And then all the rest.” Judge Stark waved his hand again, this time in a dismissive manner, and Maher was led out of the courtroom amid the hysterical cries of his mother.

 

A SHORT TIME AFTER SENTENCING, MAHER WAS PICKED UP AT RIKERS Island by three corrections officers who would transfer him to Elmira Prison in upstate New York. They loaded Maher into the third seat of a 1968 Plymouth station wagon, then headed to the Bronx House of Detention to sign out two additional prisoners scheduled for transfer.

On the way to the Bronx, Maher chattered and joked with the officers. Among other things, he told them he had a cousin named Eddie Lacey, who was a corrections officer.

“Yeah,” one of the officers reacted in recognition. “I know Eddie.”

Maher told them about his car chase and subsequent four-year sentence. The officers were sympathetic.

“You don’t belong in prison,” one of them said.

“You steal three cars and get four years?” another chimed in, shaking his head in disbelief. “Kid, you’ll be out in six months.”

The Bronx prisoners, who were black, appeared to have nasty dispositions, so one of the officers pulled Maher from the back of the station wagon.

“Come on up with me, kid,” the officer said. “You’ll be more comfortable.”

About an hour and a half into the trip, the station wagon started to shimmy, and the driver pulled to the side of the road.

One of the officers nodded toward Maher. “This kid knows about cars. Let him fix it.”

Maher stepped outside and started to crawl under the car.

“Hold it,” an officer shouted.

Maher turned around. The officer had a handcuff key. “Let me take those cuffs off.”


By then everyone—the three officers and the two other prisoners—had gotten out of the station wagon. Maher glanced at the ignition and saw that the key had been removed. If that key was in there, Maher thought. But it wasn’t, so Maher knelt down and stuck his head under the car.

“Here’s your problem. You’ve got a bubble in the left rear tire. It’s got to be changed.”

An officer knelt down to take a look, his gun suddenly positioned right in Maher’s face. I could take the gun, Maher thought. But he didn’t.

Maher changed the tire, and in a few minutes the station wagon was back on the road.

In Ithaca, which was thirty miles from Elmira, they stopped for gas.

“I have to go to the bathroom,” Maher said.

“I do, too,” one of the officers said.

Maher started to get out of the car.

The officer stopped him. “Sit back down.” He unlocked Maher’s cuffs.

Maher and the officer walked toward the bathroom. Once inside, the officer went to a urinal and Maher went into a stall. The stall had an open window.

Maher sat on the toilet and waited until he heard the flush of the urinal.

“Okay,” the officer yelled, “I’ll wait for you outside in the car.”

The moment Maher heard the bathroom door shut, he dove out the window, landing in a thicket of rose bushes. Bloody but free, Maher sprinted away.

The officers became concerned when Maher hadn’t emerged after five full minutes, so they ran to check the bathroom. Maher was gone.

Cruising the area in the station wagon, the officers spotted Maher running down a side street. One of the officers jumped from the station wagon and fired off three shots. The first splatted into the brick wall. The second whizzed by Maher’s head, sucking air away from his ear. The third also missed, but Maher pretended to be hit. As Maher knew it would, it caused the officer to stop firing and put his gun away. Maher took off again, disappearing around a building. As he ran, he lost a shoe. A car, Maher thought, I need a car. Maher scanned the ground for a piece of metal, anything he might use to pop an ignition. But Ithaca wasn’t like the Bronx. The streets were spotless.

Within minutes, a cacophony of sirens shattered the quiet night, and helicopters filled the sky. Even the media were alerted. Suddenly the town of Ithaca was buzzing. Cops. Fire trucks. Reporters. All hunting for a redheaded teenager.

Maher’s escape attempt finally ended in the concrete stairwell of a record store. When the officers found him huddled against a locked steel door at the bottom of the steps, they began beating him unmercifully.

“I talked to you like a brother,” one of them said as he kicked Maher in the face.

“You fucking scumbag,” another said as he slammed his fist into Maher’s stomach.

“You little bastard,” the third officer screamed as he punched Maher in the face. “We’ve got seventy-six years of service among the three of us.”

As the officers were pounding Maher, an Ithaca cop arrived and pulled them off.

“I don’t know how you guys do it in New York City,” the cop said, “but this is Ithaca.”

When the television cameras arrived, the bloody and bruised Maher grabbed the Ithaca cop. “Please! Take me with you! They’re going to kill me!”

The Ithaca cop explained that he couldn’t do anything. “You’re the property of the state,” he said.

The corrections officers handcuffed and shackled Maher, then threw him face down into the back of the station wagon.

“We’ve got thirty miles to go,” an officer said. “You try anything else and I’ll blow your brains out.”

A few miles outside of Ithaca, Maher looked out the back window and saw an Ithaca cop car following at a discreet distance. It made Maher feel better. At least he would make it to prison alive.

 

ELMIRA STATE PRISON WAS NOT ALWAYS A FINAL DESTINATION. Two cellblocks were designated as Elmira Reception Center, a place where prisoners were evaluated to determine which type of institution would best serve them. In July 1973 it was resolved that Maher should serve his sentence at Coxsackie Correctional Facility, a medium-security institution near Albany.

At this point, Maher had served a month at the Rikers Island Adolescent Remand Center, a month in Bellevue, fourteen months in the Rikers main prison, and two months at Elmira, a total of eighteen months. Since New York State only required prisoners to serve eight months out of each year—four months off for “good time”—Maher’s four-year sentence translated to thirty-two months. He was more than halfway home when he arrived at Coxsackie.

The conditions at Coxsackie made serving time there relatively easy. It was clean. There was a television room, a gym, and good food. A month after arriving there, Maher was chosen for a program called DVR—Division of Vocational Rehabilitation—and was given a job as a clerk at the prison hospital. The job was a hard one to get, although there were only two requirements: (1) that the inmate have no prior record of drug abuse, and (2) that the inmate be white, because the nurses were white and they were afraid of black prisoners. The color specification was not official.

When he wasn’t working in the hospital, Maher exercised in the gym and played cards with the other inmates. Except for the bars and barbed wire, it was almost a normal life. In fact, the most difficult aspects of his incarceration was his internal rage about being given such a harsh sentence and his constant worry about how his father was taking the fact that his son was locked up. Maher realized he had let his father down. And it gnawed at him. It was understandable then, that in May 1974, Maher fell apart when he called his father and his father said:

“I’m going in the hospital, Kevin. I need to have a heart operation.”

Edward Maher explained that he had a faulty heart valve and doctors were going to remedy the situation by implanting a recently developed mechanical micro valve.

Maher hung up and ran to see Father Dirken, the prison chaplain.

“I killed him,” Maher said, sobbing. “I broke my father’s heart.”

Maher immediately applied for a furlough to be with his father, but he was told he was ineligible because of the escape attempt. Upon hearing that, Maher grew despondent, even suicidal. So Father Dirken interceded and approached Coxsackie’s warden, Harry Fritz.

“Harry,” Father Dirken said, “I think we have to find a way that this boy can see his father before the operation.” Dirken had called Lenox Hill Hospital in New York and verified the serious nature of Edward Maher’s condition.

“Bring him into my office,” Fritz responded.

Maher met with Dirken and Fritz.

“I can’t grant you a furlough,” Fritz said. “But I’ll tell you what I can do. I can take you off the count.”

Taking a prisoner off the count was a dangerous thing for a warden. Essentially, it meant looking the other way while a prisoner took an unauthorized leave.

Fritz pointed at the name on his door. “Kevin, if you don’t come back, that name won’t be on the door anymore. My career will be over.”

Maher broke down and cried like a baby. “I’ll come back, Mr. Fritz. I swear I’ll come back.”

 

MAHER WAS SHOCKED BY HIS FATHER’S APPEARANCE. THE STRONG, VITAL man he had left behind was now weak, almost fragile. In fact, the operation had been postponed because Edward Maher’s blood count was too low.

“I love you, Kevin,” Edward Maher told his son. “No matter what you did, you’re still my boy.”

After three days, during which they were closer than they had ever been, Edward Maher drove Kevin to the bus station.

“Please,” Edward said as he hugged Kevin tightly. “Please go back.”

“I will, Dad. Don’t worry. I will.”

And he did. Maher returned to Coxsackie to finish the last three months of his sentence, three months that were far more difficult for Maher to serve than all the previous time he had spent behind bars. Besides dealing with his father’s illness, Maher’s mother—the woman who had left his father for a drunken bum—married for a third time.

Every day Maher called to see if the operation had been rescheduled. Finally Maher was informed that the procedure would take place August 9, 1974, which also happened to be the same day Maher was to be released from Coxsackie.

On the morning of August 9, Maher walked out of Coxsackie and boarded a Greyhound bus for New York. The entire trip, he rocked back and forth, holding his stomach.

At 3:00 P.M., Maher ran into Lenox Hill Hospital and jogged to the cardiac ward.

“I want to check”—Maher was out of breath—“on the condition of Edward Maher.”

The nurse looked at Maher and then quickly looked away. Edward Maher was dead.

 

MAHER MOVED INTO HIS FATHER’S APARTMENT AT 1609 AQUEDUCT Avenue. The grief was overwhelming, the guilt suffocating. Maher had planned to make it all up to his father, spend more time with him, look after him. He was going to be a good son for a change. Stay out of trouble. Hold a job. Maher wanted desperately to make his father proud. But now it was too late.

After nearly three years behind bars, Maher realized that the adjustment to life on the outside would be difficult, but he hadn’t expected that even the most ordinary things would seem strange. The front door of his apartment closing with a thud instead of a clank. Eating whenever he was hungry. And children. The first time he saw a group of children, they appeared to be surreal little beings. Munchkins from The Wizard of Oz.

A week after he was released, Maher began working as a bartender at a Blarney Stone in Manhattan, located on 59th Street between Second and Third avenues. It was a job his father had arranged nearly a year ago.

“I want you to have a place to work when you get out,” Edward Maher had told his son during one of their weekly phone calls.

After three days on the job, Maher had his first meeting with his parole officer, Jerry Israel, and dutifully reported that he was employed. Israel was upset.

“You can’t work in an establishment that serves alcohol,” Israel almost shouted. “Didn’t you know that?”

Maher shook his head.


“I could report you for a parole violation!” Israel grumbled.

Maher quit his job at the Blarney Stone and tried to find other employment. Of course, nobody would hire an ex-con. This left Maher with no money and no legitimate way to make money. The “system” had done it again. So when one of Maher’s friends, a man named Brian O’Neal, suggested a way to make a quick buck, Maher went along with the plan.

“It’s easy,” O’Neal said. “You go over to one of these places where they have the opera and shit like that. And you go up to one of these old ladies wearing a mink and rip the fuckin’ coat right off her back.”

O’Neal added that he had a fence who bought the coats.

Maher and O’Neal decided upon Lincoln Center. Naturally, Maher was the “wheel man.”

A few minutes after they parked in the Lincoln Center service road, O’Neal spotted a mark. He jumped from the car, ran to an old woman, and hit her so hard she actually lifted off the sidewalk. He then bent over her crumpled body and tore off her mink.

“What the fuck did you hit her for?” Maher screamed as O’Neal climbed into the car.

“She was a Jew,” O’Neal sneered. “Jews don’t give it up so easy.”

Maher punched O’Neal in the face. “You motherfucker!”

What the hell am I doing? Maher wondered. Mugging old ladies? Maher was disgusted with himself. And then, as he jammed his foot onto the accelerator and sent the car speeding up Broadway, it occurred to him that there was one thing he was very good at: stealing cars.

After stealing and selling several cars, Maher was pulled over for speeding in a stolen 1974 Plymouth. The familiar scenario then played out: Whitestone Impound Lot. A search for true VIN number. And then a charge of grand theft auto. By now, however, Maher had accumulated quite a stash and bailed himself out.

Jerry Israel, his parole officer, was not pleased. But Israel could do nothing because of a New York State law that did not allow him to file a parole violation upon an arrest, only after a conviction.

Maher was caught a second time. And a third. Still there was nothing the parole board could do. But then Maher helped a few friends break into a speed shop and was charged with burglary, a much more serious crime. This time he couldn’t make bail—which was set at three thousand, five hundred cash—and he was incarcerated at the Bronx House of Detention. Within three months of his release from Coxsackie, Maher was back behind bars.

After spending Christmas at the Bronx House of Detention, Maher was warehoused for a while at Sing Sing, then was shuttled to the Queens House of Detention to await a parole hearing, which was scheduled at Green Haven State Prison. The vicious circle that had begun one winter night on the Bronx River Parkway was now complete. Kevin Maher had become a repeat offender, an incorrigible felon. Except for a month or two here and there, he would probably spend the rest of his life languishing away in one penal institution or another.
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